FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
2/10/2022 3:47 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/14/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100645-4

Court of Appeals No. 55034-2-II

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### AHMET CHABUK,

Petitioner,

VS.

#### CITY OF TACOMA,

a Washington Municipal Corporation, through its Neighborhood and Community Services Department and its Department of Public Utilities,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ahmet Chabuk WSBA No. 22543 Attorney/Petitioner 11663 Ivy Ln NW Silverdale, WA 98383 (360) 692-0854

##

A. Identity of Petitioner
B. Court of Appeals Decision
C. Issues Presented for Review
D. Statement of the Case
E. Argument Why Review Should be Accepted
F. Conclusion
Appendix

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases
Watson v. Washington Preferred Life Ins. Co., 81 Wn.2d 403, 408, 502
P.2d 1016 (1972)
U.S. Supreme Court Cases
Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 70 S.Ct. 652,
94 L.Ed. 865 (1950)
Constitutional Provisions
CONST. art. I, § 3 (Due Process Clause) passim
U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1 (Due Process Clause) passim
Statutes/Ordinances
TMC 1.1.1
TMC 2.01.050.C.3 passim
TMC 2.01.050.D
TMC 2.01.070.B.2 passim

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Ahmet Chabuk asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B below.

### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

On Nov. 30, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion in Chabuk v. City of Tacoma, No. 55034-2-II. On Jan. 11, 2022, the Court of Appeals denied Chabuk's motion for reconsideration. Copies of the opinion and order denying reconsideration are attached.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues raised below constitute constitutional due process violations.

1. The lower courts' refusal to consider the most significant evidence of Chabuk violated his rights to due process of the law.

- 2. The City's failure to provide notice before boarding up the house despite no exigent circumstance violated Chabuk's due process.
- 3. The City and the hearing examiner violated Chabuk's rights to due process of the law by substituting TMC 2.01.050.C.3 in the Notice of Violation and replacing it with TMC 2.01.070.B.2.
- 4. The City violated Chabuk's due process by demanding (and receiving) payments from him for his tenants' payment obligations to the City without any authority from the TMC to transfer the tenants' obligations to the landlord.
- 5. The Court of Appeals erred by ruling that Chabuk failed to exhaust his administrative remedies when any further efforts by Chabuk would have been futile.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ahmet Chabuk, Petitioner, is the owner of a rental home in Tacoma. Before they were evicted, the tenants

failed to pay the rent, failed to pay for the utilities, and the City turned off those services. Thereafter the tenants tampered with the City's water meter and the electric power box.

Chabuk commenced the eviction process, and hired an electrical contractor to replace the electrical box.

Before it was done, the City inspector boarded up the house, on or about June 24, 2018, without notifying Chabuk, and again boarded up, four additional times, again without notifying Chabuk, and denying Chabuk a reasonable opportunity to secure the building himself.

Yet, the City demanded and received payment from Chabuk for all of the board up costs.

The City inspector never provided a notice of violations to justify any of the multiple board ups. The City inspector later explained in his email: "My hold was for the board up of your building due to your tenants.

They had tampered with the utility meters. This is an

automatic board up, no questions asked." Appendix to Chabuk's Opening Brief in the Court of Appeals, at A-2. Chabuk tried to appeal those board up charges, without notice to him. But the City would not accept his appeal unless there was a notice of violation from the building inspector.

Chabuk demanded and later received a notice of violations for a derelict building, so that Chabuk could proceed with his appeal of the board up charges.

In his emails, the City inspector later explained:

"My hold was for the board up of your building due to
your tenants. They had tampered with the utility meters.

This is an automatic board up, no questions asked."

Appendix to Chabuk's Opening Brief in the Court of

Appeals, at A-2. Similarly, in his email the city inspector
stated: "the notice of violations I sent to you are for the
cleanup of the yard and minor repairs to the building." *Id*.

at A-1.

These two documents are the most significant evidence as to why the building inspector boarded up the house. Yet the lower courts and the Court of Appeals refused to consider it (in affirming the motion for summary judgment against Chabuk).

In his motion for reconsideration in the Court of Appeals, Chabuk called the court's attention to the failure to note the evidence and attached those two exhibits: that the court had overlooked those two documents even though they were the most significant evidence. The Court of Appeals denied Chabuk's motion for reconsideration.

Meanwhile the notice for corrections for derelict building has never been an issue because Chabuk immediately cleaned up the yard and did what was necessary.

For the hearing, before the hearing examiner, on appeal of the boarding charges, the City attorney argued the hearing as if it were an appeal for a derelict building and submitted a great amount of documents. As it turns out, most of those pages were not about the board up charges and apparently they were mysteriously submitted to the hearing examiner's folder without Chabuk's knowledge.

There were no issues on appeal as a derelict building other than a missing handrail leading from the backyard to the basement, which Chabuk installed immediately.

Before the hearing examiner, the City argued a section of Tacoma Municipal Court (TMC) which was not cited by the building inspector in his notice for a derelict building. The City substituted TMC 2.01.070.B.2 even though in his notice for correction of derelict building, the City inspector had cited TMC 2.01.050.C.3, which required the City to provide notice to the building owner while the former TMC did not seem to require a notice to the owner.

Meanwhile, there has been no condition in the building or on the grounds to indicate any condition dangerous to anyone.

The City inspector had stated the only relevant evidence for the notice of the derelict building and for boarding up the building was that "the notice of violations I sent to you are for the cleanup of the yard and minor repairs to the building," (Appendix to Chabuk's Opening Brief in the Court of Appeals, at A-1), which was immediately performed by Chabuk.

Even if boarding up the house was justified for the initial boarding, the City inspector did not explain how the tenants' initial tampering with the utility meters justified boarding up the house for the second, the third, and the fourth time.

In addition, the City apparently transferred the tenants' payment obligations to the City from the tenants

to Chabuk as the owner of the house without citing any part of the TMC giving such authority to the City.

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case constitutes a failure of due process. Due process requires an opportunity to be meaningfully heard. Implicit in this opportunity must be for the court to consider the evidence presented.

The Court of Appeals' opinion refused to consider the most important evidence in record: the two emails from the City inspector where he acknowledges it was an automatic board-up, no questions asked, and that the inspector's notice of violations was only for the clean up of the yard and minor repairs to the building.

The Court of Appeals' opinion fails to acknowledge those two emails, despite being repeatedly pointed out by Chabuk in his briefs and his motion for reconsideration. In his email, the City inspector stated his reasons for boarding up the house: "My hold was for the board up of your building due to your tenants. They had tampered with the utility meters. This is an automatic board up, no questions asked, I called you the day of the board up as a courtesy call only." Appendix to Chabuk's Opening Brief in the Court of Appeals, at A-2.

Similarly in his email, the City inspector stated "the notice of violations I sent to you was for the cleanup of the yard and minor repairs to the building." *Id.* at A-1.

Chabuk received the notice of violations only because he asked for it so that he could appeal the board-up charges. The City would not accept an appeal from Chabuk unless there was a notice of violations. All the other "notices" in file were apparently prepared and submitted by the City attorney unknown to Chabuk and they were done months later after the house was boarded up.

There was nothing wrong with the building itself or the mess in the yard, except that the tenants had tampered with the electrical panel, which was located on the wall outside the building and the power was already turned off.

There was nothing wrong or dangerous with the building other than it needed a handrail going down to the basement from outside.

The state and federal constitutions provide that no person shall be deprived of property without due process of law. CONST. art. I, § 3; U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1. "The essence of procedural due process is notice and the right to be heard. The notice must be reasonably calculated to apprise a party of the pendency of proceedings affecting him or his property, and must afford an opportunity to present his objections before a competent tribunal." *Watson v. Washington Preferred Life Ins. Co.*, 81 Wn.2d 403, 408, 502 P.2d 1016 (1972)

(citing Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 70 S.Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950)).

The Hearing Examiner, the Superior Court, and the Court of Appeals violated Chabuk's right to due process of the law when they substituted TMC 2.01.050.C.3 in the Notice of Violation, dated September 4, 2018, (which requires the City to notify the owner), and replaced it with TMC 2.01.070.B.2 (which does not appear to require the City to notify the owner with a notice of violation), even though neither one of them had been cited to justify boarding up the house, more than two months earlier, on June 24, 2018, and no notice of violations, for boarding up the house, had been issued, neither before nor after the house was boarded up.

## TMC 2.01.050.D Subsection 1 requires:

Owner notification: a. When any property has been classified as being "substandard" or "derelict", the owner shall be notified by first-class mail describing the violations. The owner shall be given 21 calendar days from

the date of the notice to respond to the building official to negotiate a repair plan and schedule as outlined in subsection D.2.

Even if it did apply in here, TMC 2.01.070.B.2 violates procedural due process of the law under the Due Process Clause of the 14th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 3 of the Washington Constitution as it appears to allow the City building inspector to board up the house without a reasonable prior notice to the owner. In addition, the City violated Chabuk's right to due process of the law when it demanded (and received) payments for his tenants' payment obligations to the City. The notice of violations (dated September 4, 2018) cited TMC 2.01.050.C.3, which requires the City to notify the owner of the violation and provides the owner with an opportunity to take care of the violations himself.

Even though the notice of violation cited TMC 2.01.050.C.3 (derelict buildings – which requires the

building inspector to notify the owner), the hearing examiner substituted it with TMC 2.01.070.B.2 (which does not appear to require the City to notify the owner).

Later, the building inspector clarified his notice:

"the notice of violations I sent to you are for the clean up
of the yard and minor repairs to the building." (Appendix
to Chabuk's Opening Brief in the Court of Appeals, at
A-1). About the boarding up of the house, back in June
2018, the building inspector clarified, more than two
months later, in his email on September 4, 2018: "my
hold was for the board up of your building due to your
tenants. They had tampered with the utility meters. This
is an automatic board up, no questions asked." *Id.* at A-2.

This explanation and argument by the City inspector is in violation of the due process of the law. The City has provided no legal authority that authorizes the boarding up of a house as "an automatic board up, no questions asked."

The notice of violation was issued more than two months later, dated September 4, 2018, and cited TMC 2.01.050.C.3, which requires the owner to be notified, but was no longer relevant because Chabuk had already complied with it.

The notice of violation did not cite to TMC 2.01.070.B.2, which was not relevant in this case. Yet the hearing examiner cited it to replace TMC 2.01.050.C.3 even though neither one of them was cited for boarding up the house, more than two months earlier, in June 2018, and no notice of violations was ever issued for the boarding-up of the house.

Furthermore, after the initial board up of the house, there was no reason for the City inspector to repeat the same when the Tacoma Police Department intercepted the former tenants several times as they were removing the plywood panels to take away some of their possessions. The Tacoma police questioned them but let

them go free without a day in jail for their violations of the order of the police department. The City had no justification to have the contractor re-install the removed plywood sheets repeatedly and to charge Chabuk for the costs repeatedly without a notice to Chabuk.

Meanwhile, TMC 2.01.070.B.2 violates the procedural due process of the law of the 14th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 3 of the Washington Constitution because it appears to give unchecked authority to the building inspector without a reasonable notice to the property owner.

The City inspector, in his notice of violations, did not cite TMC 2.01.070, because it applies to a building which "presents an immediate danger" to anyone entering the building. And it provides, in pertinent part:

- B. Procedures for Securing Buildings.
- 1. Vacant buildings. Once the building is determined to be vacant and is open to unauthorized third-party entry, the building official shall make reasonable effort to contact

the owner to have the building secured. If the owner cannot be contacted with reasonable effort, the city shall secure the building. If such building is presenting an immediate danger to the health, safety, and welfare of the public, or is requested to be immediately secured by the building official, the city Police Department, the city fire department and/or the Tacoma-Pierce County health Department, or their duly authorized representative, the building official shall immediately cause the building to be secured. In the event that the city secures the building, all costs incurred shall be assessed to the owner of the property.

2. Occupied buildings. If a building is occupied and determined by the City to be in violation of this chapter and presents an immediate danger to the health, safety, and welfare of the occupants or the public, the building shall be ordered vacated by the building official, and the building official shall cause the building to be immediately secured from unauthorized third-party entry.

In the event that the city secures the building, all costs incurred shall be assessed to the owner of the property and the city may classify the building as derelict or unfit.

In this case, before the house was boarded up, in June 2018, no notice of violations was issued and the owner was not notified. Yet the house was boarded up

"automatically." More than two months later, upon
Chabuk's request, on September 4, 2018, the City
inspector issued his notice of violations, as a derelict
building and cited TMC 2.01.050.C.3 for "cleaning up the
[messy] yard" and for "minor repairs." There has been no
determination by the City inspector that the house
"presents an immediate danger to the health, safety, and
welfare of" anybody.

The Court of Appeals violated Chabuk's due process by ruling that Chabuk had not exhausted his administrative remedies in disputing the City's authority to transfer the charges from his former tenants to himself. Chabuk was not a customer or consumer under TMC 1.1.1 (customer service policies and fees) and he should not be required to exhaust any administrative remedies. The requirement for exhaustion of the administrative remedies applies to customers/clients of the TPU.

In his motion for reconsideration of the hearing examiner's ruling, Chabuk attached copies of the City's records indicating Chabuk's unsuccessful efforts with his phone calls to the City for a resolution of the dispute. AR Chabuk 000005; 000006; 000007. The accounts by the City show several pages of entries of extensive efforts Chabuk made to dispute the charges with the City but he received no cooperation. Chabuk has exhausted his administrative remedies and efforts to go any further were futile.

Moreover, Chabuk was not even aware of the tenants' charges having been transferred to himself until after he paid for the board up charges and asked the TPU to start the services to his name. Chabuk has demonstrated that his further attempts with TPU to resolve the dispute in pursuing his administrative remedies was futile.

The City failed to cite a legal authority empowering the City to shift the tenants' payment obligations to Chabuk as the owner of the property. Chabuk's efforts to exhaust any administrative remedies have been futile while Chabuk was not even aware of those charges until after he submitted his appeal of the City's board up charges and asked the TPU to turn the services to his name.

#### F. CONCLUSION

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals, vacate the orders of the Superior Court and the hearing examiner, and grant Chabuk's motion for summary judgment.