FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/8/2022 12:53 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100645-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AHMET CHABUK,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILLIAM C. FOSBRE, City Attorney

JENNIFER J. TAYLOR
WSB #26607
Attorney for Respondent
Tacoma City Attorney's Office
747 Market Street, Suite 1120
Tacoma, Washington 98402
(253) 591-5885

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals affirmed the City of Tacoma's authority to impose: (1) board-up charges against the owner of a derelict building, and (2) a fee for an illicit utility reconnection. Petitioner Ahmet Chabuk, the owner of the property in question, originally challenged the imposition of those charges to the Hearing Examiner for the City of Tacoma. The Superior Court subsequently affirmed the decision of the Hearing Examiner, and Division II of the Court of Appeals, in turn, affirmed.

Chabuk now seeks review by this Court. He argues that Tacoma Municipal Code (TMC hereinafter) 2.01.070.B.2, the ordinance authorizing the board-up of the property as well as the assessment of the costs, is unconstitutional. He also alleges that Division II erred when it ruled that he failed to exhaust his administrative remedies related to the unauthorized reconnection fee (and other utility fees).

Chabuk's allegations of constitutional deprivations are neither borne out by the record nor reflective of the decision made by the Court of Appeals in its unpublished opinion. Petitioner presents the same arguments that were previously rejected by the Hearing Examiner, the Superior Court, and the Court of Appeals. For the reasons outlined herein, Chabuk has not demonstrated grounds for review under RAP 13.4 and the instant petition should be denied.

II. ISSUES RESTATED

- A. Whether review should be denied as Chabuk fails to establish that the City's ordinance is unconstitutional?
- B. Whether review should be denied when Division II correctly ruled that Chabuk failed to exhaust his administrative remedies, and he has failed to show that this decision should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division II's analysis of the instant case includes a detailed and accurate description of the underlying facts and procedural history of this case. Therefore, the City will not repeat in full that factual and procedural background herein. Certain points, however, warrant emphasis.

In June 2018, a City of Tacoma Neighborhood and Community Services (NCS) inspector determined that a house at 6432 South Ferdinand owned by Chabuk was occupied by seventeen individuals, yet had no running water or electricity (utility services had been terminated due to non-payment). The water meter had also been tampered with and Chabuk's tenants had hooked up a generator inside the garage. There were other life safety hazards observed (for example, inoperable smoke detectors). Pursuant to the emergency powers in TMC 2.01.070.B.2, the City's inspector determined that the conditions were hazardous to the occupants and subsequently boarded up the premises (the City had to re-secure the premises on more than one occasion due to repeated unlawful entries). In accordance with that provision of the Municipal Code, the City assessed the board-up costs against the owner, Chabuk.

In September 2018, Chabuk received two Notices of Violation from the City. One was issued under the City's Minimum Buildings and Structures Code, and stated that the house itself had been classified as a derelict building in accordance with TMC 2.01.050.C.3 (that provision of the TMC defines what constitutes a derelict building or structure). Chabuk was provided with the notice of appeal procedures and a list of the deficient conditions. The City also issued a Notice of Violation under TMC 8.30, for public nuisance conditions observed on the premises (debris and litter in the yard); Chabuk also received notice of those conditions and the appeal process for the nuisance violation.

_

¹ With regards to the derelict building, Chabuk never appealed the classification of the house as derelict; he only argued he was not responsible for the board-up fees, because he had not received prior notice the City would be securing the house. Therefore, his arguments in his petition that the building did not present a danger, and should not have been classified as derelict, are not properly before this Court.

Chabuk continues to assert—inaccurately, as Division II took pains to point out—that the TMC provisions were somehow "switched" or "substituted" in his Notice of Violation for the derelict building. Chabuk continues to not only misread the record, but he continues to misapprehend the Municipal Code provisions that governed the enforcement actions of the City in this case.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.

The City of Tacoma opposes Chabuk's petition, as further review in this case is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b). A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

The crux of Chabuk's argument is: (1) the City violated his due process rights in June 2018 by boarding up the house at 6432 South Ferdinand Street, without prior notice, pursuant to TMC 2.01.070, and (2) that the Court of Appeals erred when it ruled he had failed to exhaust his administrative remedies regarding the unauthorized reconnection fee and other utility charges that were incurred by his tenants.²

² As noted herein, Chabuk's repeated and unsuccessful attempts to claim that the TMC citations were somehow nefariously switched in order to violate his due process rights is utterly without merit. As Division II pointed out, Chabuk misreads the record and the Code. TMC 2.01.050 was appropriately cited in the Notice of Violation informing Chabuk the building had been formally classified as derelict. TMC 2.01.050 outlines the classification process of buildings and structures, and simply defines "derelict" buildings or structures as "any building or structure, whether residential or commercial, which is not approved for human occupancy." Derelict buildings cannot be lawfully occupied. See TMC 2.01.050.C.3.b. This is exactly what the Notice of Violation regarding the derelict building that was issued in September 2018 stated. TMC 2.01.070 is the provision that gives the City emergency and summary authority to secure properties that are a threat to human safety and

A. Chabuk fails to show that TMC 2.01.070.B is unconstitutional.

Chabuk's primary complaint is that the City did not provide him with notice ahead of time that it was securing the house at 6432 South Ferdinand, which had no legal utility services and which was occupied by nearly twenty people. Chabuk contends that this constituted a due process violation. He is mistaken. The ordinance is not unconstitutional.

The City has authority to secure certain buildings, as outlined in TMC 2.01.070, which states in relevant part:

If a building is occupied and determined by the City to be in violation of this chapter and presents an immediate danger to the health, safety, and welfare of the occupants or the public, the building shall be ordered vacated by the Building Official, and the Building Official shall cause the building to be immediately secured from unauthorized third-party entry. In the event that the City secures the building, all costs incurred shall be assessed to the owner of the property and the City may classify the building as derelict or unfit....

welfare—like the case herein. This "issue" does not bear any further response.

TMC 2.01.070.B.2. The Municipal Code also mandates that all doors, windows, and other accessible openings shall be closed and locked or shuttered so as to prevent third party entry. TMC 2.01.070.C. The ordinance does <u>not</u> require that a building be classified as derelict or unfit *before* the City can take action to secure a building when it determines there is a life or safety hazard to its occupants.

Chabuk broadly argues that TMC 2.01.070.B.2 violates his due process rights as guaranteed by 14th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and article I, § 3 of the Washington State Constitution, but fails to present any meaningful argument or authority in support of his contention, or that he should have been provided notice before the property was secured.³

-

³ It is undisputed the building was subsequently declared derelict and Chabuk received notice of that, as well as the notice of the nuisance conditions. TMC 2.01.050 was appropriately cited in the Notice of Violation informing Chabuk the building had been formally classified as derelict.

This Court reviews constitutional issues de novo. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 419, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). Statutes are presumed constitutional and the burden is on the challenger to show unconstitutionality. In re Estate of Hambleton, 181 Wn.2d 802, 817, 335 P.3d 398 (2014) (quoting Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 215, 143 P.3d 571 (2006)).

As a validly enacted municipal ordinance, TMC 2.01.070.B.2 is presumptively constitutional, and Chabuk has failed to demonstrate otherwise. To the extent he alleges a violation of his procedural due process rights for his failure to receive notice prior to the building being secured, his argument fails.

At a minimum, due process requires notice and an opportunity to be heard appropriate to the case at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner. Hasit LLC v. City of Edgewood (Local Improvement Dist. #1), 179 Wn. App. 917, 953, 320 P.3d 163 (2014). "However, while the minimal requisites of due process are definite, their form may vary

according to the exigencies of the particular situation." Olympic Forest Prods., Inc. v. Chaussee Corp., 82 Wn.2d 418, 423, 511 P.2d 1002 (1973).

Due process is flexible. Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 481, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 33 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1972); Olympic Forest Prods., 82 Wn.2d at 423. When the circumstances require immediate action, post-deprivation process satisfies the requirements of the Due Process Clause. Gilbert v. Homar, 520 U.S. 924, 930, 117 S. Ct. 1807, 138 L. Ed. 2d 120 (1997). Matters of public health and safety require the government to act quickly. N. Am. Cold Storage Co. v. City of Chicago, 211 U.S. 306, 315-16, 29 S. Ct. 101, 53 L. Ed. 195 (1908); see also Reilly v. State, 18 Wn. App. 245, 251, 566 P.2d 1283 (1977) (a hearing leading to the deprivation of a significant property interest may be postponed under extraordinary circumstances, *i.e.* when such procedure is directly necessary to secure an important governmental or general public interest and there is a special need for prompt action).

Securing the safety and welfare of its citizens is perhaps the most paramount government interest. TMC 2.01.070.B.2 authorizes the City to immediately secure buildings that it determines present an immediate danger to the health, safety, and welfare of the occupants or the public. By its plain language, the ordinance is intended to preserve the safety and well-being of anyone entering a building, because of the risk of death or injury.

Moreover, the Tacoma Municipal Code provides for an appeal process once the owner is notified of the derelict status of a building. TMC 2.01.050. The Hearing Examiner for the City has jurisdiction over these appeals, as outlined in TMC 2.01.050.6 and TMC 1.23.050.B.22. Chabuk had the opportunity to be heard by the Hearing Examiner on the issue of the board-up fees. Indeed, he *was* heard, and simply lost the argument before the Hearing Examiner.

Chabuk has never disputed that his seventeen tenants were residing without utility services, nor that they attempted to

illegally connect to the City's water and power systems. He simply disagrees, apparently, that the City has explicit authority to secure those premises that present life, safety, and health hazards, as outlined in TMC 2.01.070, regardless of whether or not those premises have been classified as substandard, derelict or unfit. Indeed, the language of TMC 2.01.070 expressly contemplates that the City may *subsequently* classify a building. That is precisely what happened in this case. Chabuk was not deprived of his due process rights; he had the opportunity to appeal the costs afterwards, and he did so. TMC 2.01.070.B.2 does not violate due process and Chabuk has presented no authority as to why the costs should not be borne by the owner as the ordinance mandates.⁴

_

⁴ Chabuk does not appear to allege a *substantive* due process violation; even if he did, it would be futile. Statutes enacted pursuant to the police power of the state are not unconstitutional if they reasonably tend to protect public welfare or health. Campbell v. State, 12 Wn.2d 459, 122 P.2d 458 (1942); see also Seattle v. Gervasi, 144 Wash. 429, 258 P. 328 (1927) (regulatory or prohibitory law which operates equally upon all persons similarly situated not denial of due process). Chabuk has failed

For the reasons outlined herein, Chabuk's challenge to the constitutionality of the ordinance fails and review must be denied.

B. Division II did not err in ruling that Chabuk had failed to exhaust his administrative remedies regarding utility fees; this Court should deny review as none of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) have been met.

Chabuk contends that he should not have been charged for certain utility fees, such as the unauthorized connection fee and other utility charges (for waste and surface water). Chabuk further asserts he is not a Tacoma Public Utilities customer (despite being an owner of property in Tacoma), and he was not required to exhaust his administrative remedies as required by the Municipal Code (former TMC 12.08.520, -.678; TMC 1.23.050.B) and case law. Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635, 641, 310 P.3d 804 (2013) (when

to adduce any case law that hold building and other life safety standards are not legitimate and reasonable exercises of the City's police power. Any substantive due process challenge would be futile.

an adequate administrative remedy is provided, it must be exhausted before the courts will intervene). Nor has he shown exhaustion would have been futile. S. Hollywood Hills Citizens

Ass'n v. King County, 101 Wn.2d 68, 677 P.2d 114 (1984).

At the outset, the City respectfully submits that Chabuk has failed to articulate how the Court of Appeals decision on this issue meets the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b). He does not argue that the opinion in this case on the exhaustion of administrative remedies conflicts with a decision by the Washington Supreme Court, or is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. It is not a constitutional question, nor does Chabuk assert his petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Chabuk has failed to identify how Division II's opinion in this case has the potential to impact a significant number of other litigants, and such an impact is not readily apparent from the face of the matter. Therefore, review should not be granted on this basis alone.

Nevertheless, the substance of Chabuk's arguments are without merit. The unauthorized reconnection fee is mandated under TMC 12.10.110. Tacoma Public Utilities has enacted, via resolution of the Utility Board, a comprehensive administrative framework for billing disputes, which Chabuk failed to follow.⁵

To the extent he protests being charged for wastewater and surface water fees, his argument is similarly anemic. Former Chapter TMC 12.08 governed the regulation of wastewater and surface water. Every parcel in the City is subject to storm and surface water rates by mandate of the Tacoma Municipal Code, regardless of whether there are utility services at the property. Former TMC 12.08.510. The first avenue of appeal for these is delineated in the Municipal Code to be the Department Director. It is undisputed by the record that Chabuk—as the owner of the

_

⁵ It bears noting that Chabuk is a member of the Washington State Bar, and should be better positioned than the average individual to be able to navigate appeal procedures such as those he claimed he could not exhaust.

property against which these charges were levied—did not follow the appeal processes outlined in the Code. Neither the Hearing Examiner nor Division II erred in finding that Chabuk failed to exhaust his administrative remedies.

V. CONCLUSION

Division II issued a thorough, well-reasoned opinion, and correctly concluded that neither the City's actions of which Chabuk complains, nor any of the City's code provisions violated Chabuk's due process rights. Division II did not err in reaching this conclusion and review of the opinion is not warranted, on any grounds. For the foregoing reasons, therefore, the City of Tacoma respectfully requests that Ahmet Chabuk's petition for review be denied.

This document contains 2,733 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.